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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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ET AL.

Present: The Honorable CHRISTINA A. SNYDER

Catherine Jeang Not Present N/A
Deputy Clerk Court Reporter / Recorde Tape No.
Attorneys Present for Plaintiffs: Attorneys Present for Defendants:

Not Present Not Present

Proceedings: (IN CHAMBERS) -

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO MODIFY SCHEDULING
ORDER AND AMEND ANSWER (Dkt. 44, filed September 9,
2016)

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FO R SUMMARY JUDGMENT
(Dkt. 45, filed September 9, 2016)

l. INTRODUCTION

On November 11, 2014, plaintiff JeremydreBordegaray filed a complaint in this
Court against defendants County of Santa Barbara (“County”), City of Carpinteria, the
Santa Barbara County Sheriff’'s Office (“SB3CSheriff Bill Brown in his individual
and official capacities, Sergeant Daniel Cabaleindividually and higapacity as a peace
officer, Deputy Wesley Johnson individuadynd his capacity as a peace officer, Deputy
Sean Hampton individually and in his capaeisya peace officernd Does 1-20. Dkt. 1
(“Compl.”). In his complaint, plaintiff allege (1) the use of excessive force in violation
of his civil rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983; (2) a violation of the California
Constitution, Article 1 § 13; (Fattery; (4) violation of the Bwe Act, Cal. Civ. Code §
52.1; (5) false arrest and pmsonment; (6) intentional infliction of emotional distress
(“lED”); (7) failure to provide medical cargy officers in the field in violation of 8
1983; (8) conspiracy to interfere with gixights in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985; (9)
policy, custom, and practice in violation 1983 (“Monell liability”); (10) supervisory
liability for violations of § 1983; (11) retaliation in violation of 8 1983; and (12)
negligence._lId.
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On July 24, 2015, plaintiff filed the opénze first amended complaint, dismissing
defendant City of Carpinteria and dismissing the second, fifth, eighth, and eleventh
claims. Dkt. 19 (“FAC”). On August 14, 2018efendants filed their answer. Dkt. 21.
On September 9, 2016, defendafilied the instant motion to modify the scheduling order
and amend their answer to add an affirmatietense. Dkt. 44 ITA”). On September
12, 2016, plaintiff filed his opposition to the tian to amend. Dkt. 49 (“MTA Opp’n”).

On September 30, 2016, defendants filemrtreply. Dkt. 58 (“MTA Reply”).

Also on September 9, 201defendants filed the instant motion for summary
judgment, or in the alternativpartial summary judgment. Bk 45, 48 (“MSJ"), 46. On
September 21, 2016, plaintiff filed his opgims to the motion for summary judgment,
plaintiff's separate statement of uncontroedrfacts, and evidentiary objections. Dkts.
53 (“MSJ Opp’n”), 54, 56. October 3, 2016, defendants filed their reply to plaintiff's
opposition, defendants’ evidentiary objectipasesponse to plaintiff's evidentiary
objections, and a reply to plaintiff's separatatement of uncontroverted fact. Dkts. 59
(“MSJ Reply”), 59-21, 59-22, 59-30 (“Reply SUF”).

.  BACKGROUND
Except where otherwise notedetfollowing facts are undisputed.

A. Plaintiff's Injuries

On October 6, 2013, at approximatelp@pm, SBSO officers were dispatched to
3240 Beach Club Road (“the residence”) on a repioa possible trespasser. Reply SUF
at No. 1. The residence icchted at the end of a long deivay. _Id. at No. 3. Sergeant
Daniel Calderon, Deputy Wdehnson, and Deputy Traineeg® Hampton (collectively,
“the officers”) responded itwo marked patrol cars, o which was Unit 5154 (“Unit
5154”). See id. at Nos. 4-5. Unit 5154saejuipped with a so-called “COBAN in-car
video system,” which was mounted to the righthe Unit’'s rearviewnirror. 1d. at No.
6. Hampton was wearirgg COBAN microphone,_Id.

! Error! Main Document Only. Except where otherwise notédthis Order, the
Court does not resolve the parties’ evitilety objections in making its ruling on the
instant motions.
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Plaintiff's white truck was parked in tltkiveway. _Id. at No. 12. At about 8:46
pm, the officers encountered plaintiff aetresidence and arrested him for criminal
trespass. Id. at Nos. 11, 18pon arrest, plaintiff wasearched, handcuffed behind his
back, and placed in the bas&at of Unit 5154, which was parked in the residence’s
driveway. 1d. at Nos. 14, 15. The doofdJnit 5154 were locked, however the key
remained in the ignition with the engingnning so that the COBAN system remained
operational._ld. at No. 16. At the timéthe arrest, the COBAN audio recorder was
muted. _Id. at No. 17. Tow truck drivBloger Wood arrived to tow away plaintiff's
truck. 1d. at No. 18. The officers discoed approximately $1,500 in cash in plaintiff's
truck. Id. at No. 19. In the residentae officers found a loaded gun with the serial
number scratched off, numerous q#lbnes, and indicia of drug safesd. at No. 20.

At approximately 9:35 pm, Calderon wenside the residence to check on
Hampton and Johnson’s progr@sgonducting the investigation. See id. at No. 22.
While standing outside the residence, Woaad 8at plaintiff had moved his handcuffs—
which were still intact—to the front of Hi®dy and was climbing into the front seat of
the Unit. Id. at Nos. 23, 24. Plaintiffare Unit 5154 in reverse down the driveway. Id.
at No. 28. The officers ran fmothe residence in pursuit of plaintiff, shouting “Stop!” Id.
at No. 29. While running, Johnson radioedddackup and drew his firearm. Id. at No.
30. The plaintiff drove in reverse, andtla end of the driveway, turned Unit 5154 onto
the paved roadway of BeachublRoad._ld. at No. 32Calderon ran 61 feet from the
residence to the end of thewhway, and reached Unit 5154d. at No. 54. Calderon’s
movements were not captured on video dubegoositioning of the camera. See id. at

% Error! Main Document Only. Plaintiff objects to thigvidence as irrelevant,
hearsay, and lacking foundatioBkt. 56 at 3; Fed. R. . 401, 801, 802. The Court
disagrees and finds this evidenadmissible. This evidenterelevant because it bears
on the severity of the crime at issue, whigl factor the jury must evaluate when
determining plaintiff's excessive force clairsee infra Part IV.1.a.ii. The evidence is
neither hearsay nor lacking foundation, because it is the officers’ testimony as to what
they personally and directly observed duringir investigation of the house. See Dkt.
45-3 (“Calderon Decl.”) 11 9-10; Dkt. 45-5 (“hig@ton Decl.”) 1 13; Dkt. 45-6 (“*Johnson
Decl.”) § 11.
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No. 37. Calderon was so close to the carlieatould have reactieut and touched it.
Id. at No. 92. Johnson stopped in the ey, behind Calderond. at No. 38.
Calderon drew his gun._Id. at No. 40.

The parties dispute the sequence of thents/that followed, but at some point
plaintiff stopped the car for less than two seconds to shift from reverse into forward gear
and Calderon fired five shots in the directafriJnit 5154. Id. at Nos. 33, 44, 46. In
essence, the parties dispute whether plaintiff was driewgrd Calderon, placing
Calderon and others at imminent risk. f@elants aver that Gidron reached Unit 5154
just as plaintiff stopped to shift gears fromeese into forward drive. Id. at No. 35.
Defendants further aver that Calderon wasont of Unit 5154. See id. at No. 36.
Defendants allege that whenl@aron drew his gun, plaintiff looked right at Calderon, hit
the gas, revved the engine, and that Unit 516rtHed forward.”_Id. at Nos. 40, 41.
Defendants further allege thahen Unit 5154 “lurched forard,” the Unit’s front tires
were still turned toward the driveway, wheCalderon was standing. Id. at No. 42.
Defendants contend that Unit 5154 was “movimgvard and to the left” when Calderon
fired his gun._Id. at No. 44. Plaintitth the other hand, alies that Calderon was
standing to the side, not in front, of Unit 519¥SJ Opp’n at 5. Plaintiff avers that he
remembers being shot in thdtlarm as he was moving his hands to shift the gear into
drive, but is unsure whether he was ablgdbthe Unit into drive.See Reply SUF at
Nos. 34, 35. Plaintiff disputes that 6154 “lurched forward” and contends that
plaintiff was, instead, “taking off’—that is, leaving— when Calderon fired the shots. See
id. at No. 41.

Plaintiff was struck by two of the fivieullets: one in the arm and one in the
abdominal area. Id. at Nd9. After plaintiff was suck, the Unit moved forward
approximately 28 feet in 2.5 seconds antlided with Wood’s tow truck, parked on
Beach Club Road. See id. at No. 51. 8efiriminologist David Barber was able to
document the trajectories of four of the five bulfetsl. at No. 47. His report indicates

® Plaintiff filed evidentiary objections, arqug, inter alia, thaBarber’s report is
hearsay pursuant to Federal Ruleg§widence 801-803, because it lacks an
accompanying declaration by Barber, authenticgtine report. Dkts. 56 at 4. The Court
finds that the report is admissible under an exception to the rule against hearsay because
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that of these, one bullet traveled through the front driver door window, “straight across
the vehicle from left to right.”_See id. Théher three bullets entered into the driver’s
side rear door and were fttdrom the left side of the écle toward the front left

(driver’s) area._ld.

B. Plaintiff's Medical Care

After Unit 5154 crashed into the tow truckalderon radioed fanedics to respond
“Code 3,” i.e., with lights and ®#ns. _Id. at No. 55. The officers then removed plaintiff
from Unit 5154 and placed him supine on the groukad.at No. 57. It was determined
that plaintiff had a pulse and was breathimg. Calderon retrieved the automatic
external defibrillator (“AED”) from the Unit'srunk and turned it on._lId. at No. 58.
Deputies Watkins, Baisa, andr8ger arrived at the scenéd. at No. 59. Watkins’s
patrol car was also equipg with a COBAN camerand recorded the officers’
interactions with plaintiff._Id. at No. 60The AED detected ndsckable hearth rhythm
and then prompted “It is now safe to touch gatient. Start CPR.”_Ict No. 61. It was
decided that CPR was ngi@opriate, because plaintiff was still breathing and had a
pulse. _Id. at No. 62. Medics arrived oe gtene within eighihinutes of Calderon’s
radio call. _Id. at No. 67. The medidstermined that plaintiff's breathing was
inadequate and administer€®R. _Id. at No. 68.

Plaintiff avers that as direct and pnawdte result of the gunshot wounds caused or
facilitated by the officers, plaintiff lost §@ercent of his intestines, as well as 40
centimeters of his colon. FAC § 43. &rthe shooting, plaintiff has had to use a
colostomy bag. Id. Plaintiff’'s physicaljuries have also led to infections, which
resulted in multiple surgeries. Id. Plafhavers that the surgeries left scarring on
plaintiff's abdominal region._Id. Moreoveplaintiff alleges that he lost over 70 pounds
of his body weight and suffered extrermotional distress, fear, trauma, and
humiliation. 1d.

it is a public record of the State of CalifanDepartment of Justice setting out factual

findings from a legally authorized investtga and Plaintiff makes no showing that the
source of information or other circumstanaedicate a lack of trustworthiness. Fed. R.
Evid. 803(8).
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C.  Court Proceedings and Internal Investigation

On May 21, 2014, plaintiff pleaded no contest to resisting, delaying, or obstructing
a peace officer in violation of CalifornRenal Code § 148(a)(13,misdemeanor; and
pleaded guilty to: unlawful driving or takg of a vehicle in violation of California
Vehicle Code § 10851(a), a felony; possessioa abntrolled substance with firearm in
violation of California Health & Safety Code11370.1, a felony; unauthorized entry of a
dwelling house in violation of California Ral Code § 602.5(a), a misdemeanor. See
Reply SUF at No. 73.Pursuant to SBSO Policthe SBSO conducted an internal
investigation to determine Calderon’s confonoa with SBSO policy. Id. at No. 86.
The Use of Deadly Force Rew Board (“Review Board”)dund, based on the results of
the internal investigation, that Calderon dmt violate SBSO policy and procedure. Id.
at Nos. 89, 90. Sheriff Brown attended the presentation of the internal investigation’s
findings regarding Calderon’s use of deadlscey but did not attend the Review Board’s
deliberations. Dkt. 45-2 (“Brown Decl.Y) 22. He subsequently received a one-page

* Plaintiff asserts two objections to thenaidsibility of his guilty pleas. First,
plaintiff contends that these pleas arel@vant or unfairly prejudicial, citing Federal
Rules of Evidence 401-403. Dkt. 56 at 5c@wul, plaintiff argues that plaintiff's pleas
to the misdemeanors are inadsible pursuant to Federal RwieEvidence 609. Dkt. 56
at 5.

The Court concludes that plaintiff's misdemeanor and felony pleas are irrelevant to
the determination of wheth@alderon used reasonabledemhecause Calderon could not
have known of these pleas at the time efiticident. The guiltpleas are therefore
inadmissible for the purpose of determinimgether Calderon’s force was reasonable.

The Court finds that plaintiff’'s misdemearueas are also inadmissible for impeachment
purposes because plaintiff's misdemeanors dormvalve dishonesty or false statements.
See Medrano v. City of Los Angeles, 972dF1499, 1507 (9th Cif.992); Fed. R. Evid.
609(a)(2).

However, plaintiff's felony pleaare admissible to support defendants affirmative
defense under California Civil Code § 3333.3¢ #dra Part I11.B., PartvV.B.5.d. n.13.
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memorandum of the Review Baks findings, reviewed them, and took no further action.
Id. at T 23.

[ll. DEFENDANTS' REQUES T TO AMEND PLEADINGS
A. Legal Standard for Amending Pleadings

The decision whether to grant leave toeawch pursuant to Rule 15(a) “is entrusted
to the sound discretion of the trial court.” Jordan v. Cnty. of Los Angeles, 669 F.2d
1311, 1324 (9th Cir. 1982), vacated on ottperunds, 459 U.S. 810 (1982). “Five factors
are taken into account to assess the propofeymotion for leave to amend: bad faith,
undue delay, prejudice to the opposing pdttility of amendment, and whether the
plaintiff has previously amended the cdeipt.” Johnson v. Bekley, 356 F.3d 1067,
1077 (9th Cir. 2004). Of these factors, pregedio the opposing party is the most critical
in determining whether to grant leave to awhe Eminence Capitall C v. Aspeon, Inc.,
316 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003).

Here, the Court had set a deadline dirkary 5, 2016, for amending pleadings.
Dkt. 25. Therefore, in addition totsying Rule 15(a), defendants must also
demonstrate “good cause” for amendment under Rule 16. Johnson v. Mammoth
Recreations, Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 609 (9th €992)). “Rule 16(b)’s ‘good cause’
standard primarily considers the diligencelw party seeking the amendment.” Id.
Nonetheless, the district court has “broagtdetion in supervising the pretrial phase of
litigation.” Id. at 607 (citation omitted).

B. Defendants’ Request to Amend their Answer

Defendants seek to modify the schedulander in order to amend their answer to
add an affirmative defense pursuant to California Civil Code 8§ 3333.3. Section 3333.3
states: “In any action for deages based on negligenagyerson may not recover any
damages if the plaintiff's injuries were amy way proximately caused by the plaintiff's
commission of any felony, omimediate flight therefrom, and the plaintiff has been duly
convicted of that felony.” Cal. Civ. Code3333.3. Defendants aver that they were
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unaware of this statute when they filed treswer and as a result did not assert this
affirmative defense in response to plaintiff’'s claim of neglagenMTA at 1.

Defendants bring the instant motion mtran a year after filing their answer.
However, the Court has “broaliscretion” to allow themendment. See Johnson, 975
F.2d at 607. The Court notes that “the unded purpose” of a motion to amend is “to
facilitate decision on the merits, rather tltanthe pleadings or technicalities.” United
States v. Webb, 655 F.2d 977, 979 (9th €Ca81) (citing_Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41,
47-48,(1957)). “When refust allow modification mightesult in injustice, while
allowing the modification would cause no stargial injury to the opponent and no more
than slight inconvenience to the court, nimdition should be allowke” Lavin v. United
Tech. Corp., 2014 WL 4402244, at *3 (C.D. Cadpt 5, 2014) (citing United States v.
First Nat. Bank of Circle, 658.2d 882, 887 (9th Cir. 1981)).

Plaintiff argues that the amendment is untimely and prejudicial because “discovery
has already been cut off and the abilityptintiff to frame questions both through
written discovery and at deposition as to this proposed affirmative defense does not exist
any longer.” MTA Opp’n aR. The Court finds this argument unpersuasive. Though
defendants’ motion “has comelatively late in the gameégelay alone is normally an
insufficient reason to deny lea¥o amend.”_Lennar Mareldsd, LLC v. Steadfast Ins.
Co., 2015 WL 4910468, at *10 (E.Bal. Aug. 17, 2015); seesal United States v. Pend
Oreille Pub. Util. Dist. No1, 926 F.2d 1502, 1511 (9thrCi991). A defense based on
§ 3333.3 requires defendants to prove thanpfawas convicted of the felony he was
committing or fleeing from when he was injurefiince plaintiff has pleaded guilty to the
felony that he committed when aas injured, plaintiff is nibconfronted with new facts
in the wake of defendants’ amendmeneée Eitizens Ins. Co. dhe Midwest v. LG
Elec., USA, Inc., 2013 WL 2160757, at *1 (Slbd. May 17, 2013) (granting motion to
modify scheduling order an add affirmative defenses because the “defenses do not appeal
on their face to require additional discoveand [the opposing party] does not detail
what additional discovery it would need.”); Bdopers Sur. anchlem. Co. v. Network
Elec., Inc., 2013 WL 2948948, at *3 (D. Utadihne 14, 2013) (“[T]he Court finds that
because Defendants’ motion only seeksdw affirmative defenses, as opposed to more
discovery-intensive claims that raisgraficant, new factual issues, prejudice to
Plaintiffs, if any, does not prohibit amendmé&n While the amendment comes after the
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discovery cutoff, plaintiff was aware of defemdtsl affirmative defenses of contributory
negligence and assumption of risk, both of which are conceptually similar to § 3333.3,
from defendants’ initial answemMonetheless, the ColBRANTS plaintiff ten (10)days

to file a supplemental opposition to defent$a motion for summary judgment, based
only on the new affirmative dense._See infra Part IV.Bd. Therefore, the Court
concludes that defendanthendment will not prejudicer delay the proceedings.

For the foregoing reasons, the cdBRANTS defendants’ motion to amend.
IV. DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
A. Legal Standard for Summary Judgment

Summary judgment is appropriate whetgete is no genuine dispute as to any
material fact and the movant is entitled to ju@gwnas a matter of laiv.Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(a). The moving party bears the initial bura identifying relevant portions of the
record that demonstrate the absence of aofafeicts necessary fone or more essential
elements of each claim upon wh the moving party seeksggment._See Celotex Corp.
v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). If theving party meets its initial burden, the
opposing party must then set out specific fatimwing a genuine issue for trial in order
to defeat the motion. Anderson v. LibelLobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986); see
also Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(de). The nonmoving party must not simply rely on the
pleadings and must do more thaake “conclusory allegatiorjm] an affidavit.” Lujan
v. Nat'l Wildlife Fed’'n, 497 U.S. 871, 888.990). When deciding a motion for summary
judgment, “the inferences twe drawn from the underlying fact . . must b&iewed in
the light most favorable to the party oppasthe motion.”_Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co.
v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (@P&itation omitted); Valley Nat'| Bank of
Ariz. v. A.E. Rouse & Co., 121 F.3d 1332335 (9th Cir. 1997). However, if the
nonmoving party “fails to make a showingfstient to establish the existence of an
element essential to thatrpds case, and on which thparty will bear the burden of

> Plaintiff does not allege that defendamake the instant motion to amend in bad
faith or that the amendment would be futile.addition, defendants have not previously
moved to amend their answer.
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proof at trial” summary judgment must geanted._Celotex, 4 U.S. at 322. The
moving party prevails when a rational trierfatt would not be able to find for the
nonmoving party on the claims at issuSee Matsud#a, 475 U.S. at 587.

B. Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment

Defendantsnove for summary judgment on plaffis claims for (1) excessive
force; (2) failure to provide medical reaby officers in the field; (3) Monéeliability
claim; (4) supervisory liability(5) battery; (6) Bane Act violations; (7) IIED; and (8)
negligence.

1. Section 1983 Excessive Force Claim against Calderon

Section 1983 provides for a causeaofion against a person who, acting under
color of state law, deprives another of tglguaranteed under theSJ Constitution. “To
prove a case under section 1983, the pFaimiist demonstrate that (1) the action
occurred ‘under color of state law’ and (8§ action resulted in the deprivation of a
constitutional right or federalautory right.” Jones v. William£97 F.3d 930, 934 (9th
Cir. 2002). Defendants make two arguments: first, defendants contend that Calderon’s
use of deadly force was objectively reasonatdepnd, defendants contend that even if
Calderon’s use of force was excessive, hentgtled to qualified immunity. The Court
addresses these arguments in turn.

a. Objectively Reasonable Use of Force

Defendants first argue that plaintgfexcessive force claim against Calderon
cannot not withstand summary judgment beeaQalderon’s use of deadly force was
objectively reasonable under the Foudiimendment. MSJ at 7-10.

An excessive force claims analyzed under the Fourdmendment._Graham v.
Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 395 (1989). Reasosradds of force is assessed from the
perspective of a reasonable offf at the scene. Id. Thelevant inquiry is whether
officers’ actions are “objectively reasonabidight of the facts and circumstances
confronting them, without regard to themderlying intent or motivation.”_Id. at 397
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(quotation marks and citation omitted). H8 calculus of reasonableness must embody
allowance for the fact thaolice officers are often foed to make split-second
judgments—in circumstances that are tenseertain, and rapidly evolving—about the
amount of force that is necessary in a paréicsltuation.” _Id. at 396-97. However, “it
is equally true that even where some fascgistified, the amount actually used may be
excessive.”_Santos v. Gat@87 F.3d 846, 853 (9th Cir. 2002).

Courts apply a balancing test to deter@whether force used is reasonable.
Graham, 490 U.&at 396. First, courts must assess dbverity of the intrusion on the
individual’'s Fourth Amendmaerrights “by evaluating the type and amount of force
inflicted.” Miller v. Clark Cnty., 340 F.3d 959, 964 (9th C003). Here, defendants do
not dispute plaintiff's assertion that Caldn’s use of deadly force was a severe
intrusion. Furthermore, the Ninth Circuitshaeld that, in some circumstances, merely
pointing a gun at someone maynstitute excessive forc&ee Tekle v. United States,
511 F.3d 839, 845 (9th Cir. 2006). Thus, asenable jury could find that firing a gun
five times at close range is a severe intrusion.

Second, courts must evaluate the cerdiling governmental interests by looking
at (a) whether the suspect was actively tegjor attempting to evade arrest by flight;
(b) the severity of the crima issue; and (c) whetheretlsuspect posed an immediate
threat to the safety of ¢hofficers or others. La¥r46 F.3d at 1117. This list is not
exhaustive and courts also consider whethewofficer warned the spect prior to use of
force, Bryan v. MacPherso630 F.3d 805, 831 (9th C2010); the parties’ relative
culpability, Espinosa v. City & Cnty. &an Francisco, 598 F.3d 528, 537 (9th Cir.
2010); and “whether there wess intrusive means of forceatimight have been used.”
Glenn v. Washington Cnty., 673 F.3d 864, 8Jth Cir. 2011). Nonetheless, the “most
important” factor is whether the suspect poaedimmediate threat to the safety of the
officers or others.”_Bryan, 630 F.3d at 82&Vhere the suspect poses no immediate
threat to the officer and no threat to othéing harm resulting from failing to apprehend
him does not justify the use of deadly fotoado so.”_Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1,
11 (1985).

Here, it is undisputed that plaintiff resistadest by flight. Thus, the first factor in
evaluating countervailing governmental interestsghs in favor of the defendants. With
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respect to the severity of tikeime, at the time Calderon shaaintiff, he had reason to
charge plaintiff with unlawfully taking a ¥écle, trespassing, resisting and delaying a
peace officer (i.e., by fleeing), and possessioa cbntrolled substance with firearm. See
Reply SUF at No. 73. However, the Ninthr€@iit has indicated that a crime’s “severity”
in the excessive force context turns on whethievolves violence or an armed suspect.
See Chew v. Gates, 27 F.Bd32, 1442 & n.9 (9th Cir. 19949ee also Davis v. City of

Las Veqgas, 478 F.3d 1048, 1055 (9th Cir. 20@6}ing that trespassing and obstructing a
police officer were not severe crimes); SmitlCity of Hemet, 394 F.3d 689, 702 (9th
Cir. 2005) (concluding that a suspect was not “particularly dangerous” and his offense
was not “especially egregious” where his whied “called 911 to report that her husband
‘was hitting her and/or was physical with hgghd] that he had grabbed her breast very
hard”). The crimes at issueddnot involve the use of violee. At the time plaintiff was
shot, he was handcuffed, was not physically resistingi@sting officers, and was
unarmed. Therefore, the severity taciveighs in favor of plaintiff.

Most importantly, a reasonable jurgud find that plaintiff did not pose an
immediate threat to Calderon or othe@ourts have denied motions for summary
judgment on Fourth Amendment claims whélethere were disputed facts regarding
whether the shooting officer was in the path or in close proximity to the projected path of
the approaching vehicle when the offiogened fire; and (2) the evidence did not
suggest that fellow officers or other innocenttapslers were at immeate risk. _Rico v.
Cnty. of San Diego, 2013 WL 3149480, at *8SCal. June 18, 2013) (citing cases).
For instance, in Rico, an officehot a suspect driving a veld. Id. at *3—4. When the
suspect filed a § 1983 claim alleging excesfwee, the shooting officer filed a motion
for summary judgment. _Id. at *1. The Ricourt found that the “key dispute” was where
the officer was located in relation to the defant’'s moving vehicle. Id. at *7. If the
officer was in the open as the defendant acatdd in his general @iction, a jury could
find that the officer’s actions were reasonalik. However, plaintiff asserted that the
officer was not in imminent danger when hgae firing, because heas not in the path
of the defendant’s car, which, by that powivas turning away from the officer. Id.
Viewing the evidence in the light most faabfe to the nonmoving party, the Rico court
could not conclude that the officer's usedefadly force was reasonable as a matter of
law. 1d. at *10. Accordingly, the Ricoourt denied defendant’s motion for summary
judgment on plaintiff's excessiverce claim. _Id. at11. The Rico court also found that
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the officer was not entitled to qualified inumity as a matter daw because, under the
plaintiffs’ version of events, no reasonabfécer would have perceived an immediate
threat and therefore no reasonable officeuld have believed his use of deadly force
was lawful. 1d. at *12.

Here, the parties dispute the contextlgthils surrounding plaintiff's use of Unit
5154. Defendants allege that plaintiff revited engine while the wheels of the Unit
were still turned towards the driveway, where Calderon—alejedly, Johnson—
stood. MSJ at 3; MSJ Reply4tJohnson Decl. § 19. Specélly, defendants aver that
Calderon was at the left frofénder, at a 45 degree angleptaintiff. Calderon Decl.

115; Johnson Decl. § 17. Defentafurther allege that platiff “looked right at Sgt.
Calderon and hit the gas” and that Calderon saw Unit 5154 “lurch forward” towards the
driveway. MSJ at 3; Calderon Decl1%Y 17-18; Hampton Decl. 11 18-19; Johnson
Decl. § 19. Defendants contend that Calderon fired at plaintiff as plaintiff was
accelerating forward. G#tron Decl. 11 18-19; Hampton Decl. {{ 18-19; Johnson Decl.
19 19, 21. Plaintiff, on the otherrith avers that Calderon was standmthe side of

Unit 5154 and not at thieont, when he fired at plaintiff MSJ Opp’n at 5. Plaintiff

further avers that plaintiff was not moving Unit 5154 forward when he was shot; rather
plaintiff contends he was shot as he was mgwiis hands to shift the gear into drive.

See MSJ Opp’n Ex. D (“Bordegay Depo.”) at 143-145; 841-6, 19-22. The COBAN
footage from Unit 5154 shows the trajectoifythe Unit but does not show the

positioning of Calderon (or Johnson) at thenmemt he used force and does not capture
plaintiff on video or audio._See MSJ Ex. Whether plaintiff posed an imminent threat
effectively turns on whether plaintiff drove tbar at Calderon. There is a genuine issue
of material fact as to whether plaintiff wan immediate threa#As such, the most
important factor in evaluating countervailingygonmental interests, weighs in favor of
plaintiff. See Bryan, 630 F.3d at 826.

The third step in the balancing tesatldetermines whether force used is
reasonable, is balancing the severity of the intrusion against the countervailing
governmental interests. Santos, 287 F.3bdt Here, the couatvailing governmental
interests do not support the amount of foreadusAlthough plaintiff resisted arrest, his
crimes were not violent and there is a fattispute as to whether plaintiff posed an
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immediate threat. Therefore, the Catahnot conclude that Calderon did not use
excessive force as a matter of law.

b. Qualified Immunity

Defendants also argue that summary judgment is appropriate as to plaintiff's §
1983 claim because even if Calderon’s ustoafe was excessivag is entitled to
qualified immunity. MSJ at 10-11.

Qualified immunity protects governmerftioials “from liability for civil damages
insofar as their conduct does not violate dieastablished statutory or constitutional
rights of which a reasonable person wouldénknown.” Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S.
800, 818 (1982). This privilege protects offis in the “hazy border between excessive
and acceptable force.” Saucie Katz, 533 F.3d 194, 206qQ1). Qualified immunity
balances “the need to hold public offits accountable whahey exercise power
irresponsibly” against “the need to shi@lficials from harassment, distraction, and
liability when they perform their duties reasonably.” Pearson v. Callahan, 129 S.Ct. 808,
815 (2009). In Saucier,eénfSupreme Court set out agygrong inquiry for denying
gualified immunity, though either prong may baxswlered first._See id., at 818. First,
the plaintiff's alleged factmwust make out a violatioof a constitutional right. Saucier,
533 F.3d at 201. Second, if a constitutionalatioln is present, the right at issue must
have been “clearly establigtieat the time of defendantaleged misconduct. Id. 8.

At the time of the incidenit was “clearly establishedhat “[w]here the suspect
poses no immediate threat to the officer andhreat to others, the harm resulting from
failing to apprehend him does not justify the us deadly force to do so.” Garner, 471
U.S. at 11. As discussed above, viewing thesfacthe light most favorable to plaintiff,

a jury could find that a reasonable offiterCalderon’s position auld not have believed
that he or anyone else was in imminemgkr and, thus, would have understood that his
use of deadly force violated plaintiff’s FaarAmendment right. Therefore, Calderon is
not entitled to qualified immuty as a matter of law.
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The Ninth Circuit has articulatedat®in police misconduct cases, summary
judgment should only be grantegparingly’ because such cases often turn on credibility
determinations by a jury.” Espinosa, 598 F.383%&. Here, the Court finds that there is
a genuine issue of material fact as to wketCalderon used excessiforce and whether
Calderon is entitled to qualified munity. Therefore, the CouBENIES defendants’
motion for summary judgement on plaintiff's excessive force claim.

2.  Section 1983 Claim of Failure to Provide Medical Care by
Officersin the Field against Calderon, Johnson, and Hamilton

Defendants argue that plaintiff's clainr fiilure to provide medical care, also
pursuant to 8 1983, cannot withstand summaalgment because Calderon’s “Code 3”
radio call to the medics rhthe Fourth Amendment regaments. MSJ at 11.

Peace officers must provide medical darpersons who haugeen injured while
being apprehendedCity of Revere v. Mass. Gen. Hos#63 U.S. 239, 244 (1983).
“The Ninth Circuit analyzes claimsgarding deficient medical care during and
immediately following an arrest under theufth Amendment.”_Mg v. City of San
Bernardino, 2012 WL 1079341, at *5 (C.D. Qdhr. 30, 2012) (citing Tatum v. City &
Cnty. of San Francisco, 441 F.3d 1090, 1098949 Cir. 2006) (explaining that while
the Supreme Court has analyzed suaintd under the Due Rress Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment in the past, it appdhat the Fourth Amendment is the proper
authority following the decision in Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386 (1989)hke
Fourth Amendment requires that law entarent officers provide objectively reasonable
post-arrest care to an arrestee. Tau#i F.3d at 1099. An officer fulfills this
obligation by promptly summoning the necegsaedical help or taking the injured

® In his opposition, plaintiff argues thee Eighth Amendment standard for denial
of medical care to a prisoner should applyiclaim of failure to provide medical care
to a suspect in custody. See MSJ Opp’'h6t20. The Court finds plaintiff's argument
unpersuasive, as it contradicts clear Nintrc@it precedent that evaluates 81983 claims
of failure to provide medical care to a sespin custody under the Fourth Amendment.
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detainee to a hospital. Id. A policH#icer who promptly summons the necessary
medical assistance has acted reasonably f@oges of the Fourth Amendment, even if
the officer did not administer CPR._Tatu#d1 F.3d at 1099 (“Here, the officers
promptly requested medical assistance,tardConstitution required them to do no more.
... We hold that it was objectively reasondbleOfficers Smith and Chan to request an
ambulance for Fullard, rather than perfaniCPR themselves”); see also Maddox v.
City of Los Angeles792 F.2d 1408, 1415 (9th Cir. 1986)Ve have found no authority
suggesting that the due process clause edtablen affirmative duty on the part of police
officers to render CPR in any and all circuamstes.”). “[T]he dtical inquiry is not
whether the officers did all that they colldve done, but whether they did all that the
Fourth Amendment requires.” Tatuddl F.3d at 1099.

In this case, Calderon promptly called foedical assistance. Reply SUF at No.
55." The officers checked plaintiff's pulse and determined that he was breathing. Id. at
No. 57. Furthermore, the officers empdolyan AED machine wle waiting for the
medics. |Id. at No. 58. The officers chose todbllow the machig’s instructions to
administer CPR because it was determitmed plaintiff was still breathing and had a
pulse. _Id. at No. 62. However, Hamiltoantinued to monitor plaintiff’s condition until
the medics arrived. Id. That the offisatid not administer CPR themselves does not

violate the Fourth Amendment because tAkgady summoned the necessary medical
assistance. Therefore, plaffi§ claim for failure to providemedical treatment fails as a

" In his response to defendants’ statement of uncontroverted facts, plaintiff argues
that the lack of audio in the COBAN video makes it unclear whether Calderon’s call to
the medics was “immediate.” See Reply SAifNo. 55. Nonetheless, plaintiff's FAC
and opposition to the summary judgment motis based on the argument that the
officers should have administered CPR rathan wait for the medics; plaintiff does not
allege that the failure torovide medical care in tHeeld stems from a delay in
summoning medical help. In addition, waitiegen as long as ten to fifteen minutes
before summoning medical help may stilldigectively reasonable care under the Fourth
Amendment._See Manni v. City of San Diego, 2013 WL 615981*% (S.D. Cal. Nov.

25, 2013).
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matter of law? For these reasons, the COBRANTS defendants’ motion for summary
judgment on plaintiff's § 1983 claim for failute provide medical care in the field.

3. Monell Liability Claim against the County, the SBSQ and Sheriff
Brown in his Official Capacity

Local government entities may be sueedily under § 1983 when their policies
or customs are the moving force behind a tarn®nal violation. _Monell v. Dep’t of
Soc. Servs. of City of New York36 U.S. 658, 690 (1978).

In his FAC, plaintiff alleges that tHéounty, the SBSO, Sheriff Brown, and the
Doe defendants are liable under Mon®RAC 11 87-96. Plaintiff pleads the following
bases for Monell liability: (1) iadequate training; (2) ratftion of a subordinate’s
unconstitutional conduct; (3) general policies of excedsinee, failing to provide
medical care in the field, and covering misconduct with lieg4) inadequate
supervision; (5) enabling constiional violations; (6) failuréo discipline; (7) deficient
hiring; (8) facilitating a codef silence; (9) encouraging officers to believe they can
violate persons’ rights; (10) failure tosme that officers made truthful repottsd.

® Defendants also argue that summary judgment is appropriate because the officers
are entitled to qualified immunityBecause the Court grartsfendants’ motion based on
the argument that defendants’ call for noadliassistance fulfilled their Fourth
Amendment obligation, the Court need nohsider defendants’ qualified immunity
argument in its ruling.

? In his opposition, plaintiff focuses gnbn the ratification theory of liability.
However, the Court address all of the theopikesntiff puts forth in his FAC._See MSJ
Opp’n at 20—-26; see also Henry v. Giidus., Inc., 983 F.2d 943, 950 (9th Cir. 1993)
(“Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedus&, a moving party is entitled to summary
judgment only upon a showing that there arg@ouine issues of material fact requiring
a trial. The party opposing the motion is unde obligation to offer affidavits or any
other materials in support of its oppositichummary judgment may be resisted and
must be denied on no other grounds thanttim@movant has faileid meet its burden of
demonstrating the absence of triable issue$ocal rule that requires the entry of
summary judgment simply because no papers opposing the motion are filed or served,
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In their motion for summary judgment, defendants first contend that Monell claims
against Sheriff Brown and the SBSO shouldilsnissed. MSJ at 14 n.1. Defendants
then argue that plaintiff’s Monell liabilitglaim fails as a matteof law because: (1)
plaintiff cannot prove any of the underlying violations of plaintiff's rights; (2) no
evidence supports a finding ofiltae to train; (3) Sheriff Brown did not ratify Calderon’s
alleged use of excessive force; and (4)ehemo evidence of policies or customs of
excessive force, denial of medical care i fileld, of covering up misconduct with lies.

Id. at 14-18. Defendants further arguattplaintiff’'s remaining bases for Monell
liability also fail as a mattesf law. See Reply SUF at No74—77, 79-80, 82. The Court
addresses defendants’ arguments in turn.

a. Defendants in the Monell Claim

Defendants argue that Sheriff Brown in bificial capacity, is a redundant
defendant because plaintiff has already nathedCounty as a defendan¥1SJ at 14 n.1.
An “official-capacity suit is, in all respects ottthan name, to be treated as a suit against
the entity.” Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U9, 166 (1985); Larez v. City of Los
Angeles, 946 F.2d 630, 646 (98r. 1991). Such a suit “is ha suit against the official
personally, for the real party in interesthe entity.” Graham, 478.S. at 166. Official-
capacity claims are “another way of pleadargaction against an entity of which an
officer is an agent.”_Hafter. Melo, 502 U.S. 21, 25 (129 (quoting_Monell, 436 U.S. at
691). “If a government entity is namedadefendant, it is not only unnecessary and
redundant to name individual officers in thefficial capacity, but ao improper.”_Talib
v. Guerrero, 2015 WL 7428511, at *5 (C.D. Odbv. 20, 2015) (citing Ctr. for Bio—
Ethical Reform, Inc. v. LoAngeles Cnty. Sheriff Dep’t, 533 F.3d 780, 799 (9th Cir.
2008)). Accordingly, the Cou@RANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment
with respect to plaintiff's Monell liabilityclaims against Sheriff Brown in hadficial
capacity'®

and without regard to whetherrgene issues of material fagxist, would be inconsistent
with Rule 56 . . . .").

% However, the Court concludes that thera @enuine issue of material fact with
respect to Brown’sndividual liability as a supervisor, infra Part IV.4.b.
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Defendants also request that the Cowsimilss the SBSO from this suit because the
SBSO is not a “person” within the meanioigg§ 1983. _Id. However, in the Ninth
Circuit, a sheriff's department or a policepdetment may be liablas a separate entity
under 8 1983. Streit v. Cnty. of Losigeles, 236 F.3d 552, 565 (9th Cir. 2001).
Accordingly, the Court concludes that tABSO is a proper parto this case and
DECLINES TO DISMISS the SBSO from this lawsuit.

b. Underlying Violations of Plaintiff's Rights

Defendants argue that the Countiglahe SBSO cannot be held liable under
Monell because plaintiff cannot prove anytloé underlying violations of plaintiff's
rights. However, the Court has already cadel that there is a dispute of fact as to
whether Calderon used excesdiwece, which is an underlyg violation that may be the
basis for Monell liability. _See supra Part IV.B.1Eherefore, the CoulDENIES
defendants’ motion for summary judgment oaipliff's Monell claim to the extent
plaintiff bases his Monell claim on an umiygng violation of plaintiff's rights.

C. Inadequate Training

Inadequacy of police training may seasa basis for § 1983 municipal liability
only where failure to train amounts to deliéie indifference to rights of persons with
whom police come into contatt.City of Canton v. Hars, 489 U.S. 378, 389 (1989).
To prevalil, the plaintiff must establish all fooi the following. First, the plaintiff must
show that the training is inadequate.e $&& at 390. The adagcy of the training
program must be examined in relation to th&ks the particular officers must perform.
Id. “That a particular ofier may be unsatisfactorilyained will not alone suffice to
fasten liability . . . for the officer’'s shodmings may have resulted from factors other
than a faulty training program.”_Id. 390-9%econd, after the plaintiff establishes
inadequacy of training, he raustill demonstrate that the failure to train is a “policy;”
merely alleging that the existing training pra for a class of employees, such as police

1 Since this Court grants defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's
claim of failure to provide medical care in theld, the Court limits its analysis to failure
to train on the use of excessicece. See supra Part IV.B.2.
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officers, represents a policyrfavhich the County is responsible is not enough to establish
Monell liability. 1d. at 389. Third, the plaiiff must show a causal link between the

policy of failure to train and the violatiasf constitutional rights._Id. at 379, 391.

Fourth, the plaintiff must show that the meipal policy of inadequa training is adhered

to with deliberate indifference to constitutibmights. See id. at 379. A plaintiff can

show “deliberate indifference” if he can edisl that “the facts available to [municipal]
policymakers put them on actualeanstructive notice that the particular omission is
substantially certain to result in the violatiofithe constitutional rights of their citizens .
..." Castro v. Cnty. of Los Angele833 F.3d 1060, 1076 (9@ir. 2016) (quotation

marks and citation omitted).

In their motion for summary judgment,fdedants argue that plaintiff does not
raise a dispute of fact regarding failure @irit In support of their motion, defendants
submit Sheriff Brown'’s declaration, whichagts only that officers were “regularly
trained” in “the training requirementstd®y the California Commission on Peace Officer
Standards and Training” and trained &manner and method that prevents the
deprivation of citizens’ constitional rights . . . .”_SeBrown Decl. 1 8-12. The Court
finds that this conclusory declaration do®t satisfy defendants’ burden on summary
judgment. Plaintiff presents facts that sups allegation of excessive force, including
the fact that when Calderondttplaintiff, Calderon was not in the path of the vehicle
plaintiff was driving. Therefore, a reasdaajury could find that the County failed to
train its officers on use of excessive foaze hold it liable under Monell. Accordingly,
to the extent that plaintiff bases his Miradaim on the County and the SBSO's failure
to train, the CourDENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

d. Ratification of a Subordinate’s Misconduct

Under the ratification theory of Mondiability, “[i]f the authorized policymakers
approve a subordinate’s decision and tr@#or it, their ratification would be
chargeable to the mumpality because their decision is final.”_City of St. Louis v.
Praprotnik, 485 U.S. 112, 127 (1988). Fomféicial’s acts to constitute municipal
policy, plaintiff must show that policymakiragthority for a particular city function was
delegated to that official. HammondG@mnty. of Madera, 859 F.2d 797, 802 (9th Cir.
1988), abrogated on other grounds, L.W. v. Grubbs, 92 F.3d 894 (9th Cir. 1996).
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Whether a particular official has “final policyaking authority” is a question of state law.
Praprotnik, 485 U.S. at 123.

To prove ratification, the plaintifhust present “evidence of a conscious,
affirmative choice” by an authorized polioyaker. _Gillette vDelmore, 979 F.2d 1342,
1347 (9th Cir. 1992). Thus, “the mere failtoanvestigate the basis of a subordinate’s
discretionary decisions” is not enough to cedatbility. Praprotnik485 U.S. at 130.
Likewise, mere failure to discipline thalsordinate does not amount to ratification.
Sheehan v. City & Cnty. of San Franciséd3 F.3d 1211, 1231 (9th Cir. 2014), reversed
in part on other grounds, 135 S.Ct. 1765 (20I8)e Ninth Circuit appears to require
something more than a failure to repriman@stablish a municipal policy or ratification
of unconstitutional conduct. See, e.q.,tkifas v. City of Oakland, 145 F.3d 1087, 1093
(9th Cir. 1998) (finding ratification where tiplice chief signed an internal affairs report
dismissing plaintiff's complaint despite ieence of Officer Chew’s excessive force
contained in the report); Ashley v. t8n, 492 F. Supp. 2d 1230, 1238 (D. Or. 2007)
(finding ratification where the police chisfibmitted a declaration stating that the
“amount of force used by Officer Sutton svat all times directed at overcoming
[plaintiff’s] resistance to hrearrest.”); Larez, 946 F.2d 646 (finding ratification where
police chief signed a letter denying Larezomplaint even though expert testimony
showed that he should have discipliribd officers and established new police
procedures); see also Estate of Escobedtity of Redwood @y, 2005 WL 226158, at
*11 (addressing Larez, McRorie v. Shinapd95 F.2d 780 (9th Cir. 1986), Henry v.
County of Shasta, 132 F.3d 512 (9th Cir. 19@nd Grandstaff v. City of Borger, 767
F.2d 161 (5th Cir. 1985), “[w]hile these cases stand for the proposition that the failure
to reprimand may support a finding of a naipal policy of deliberate indifference to
constitutional violations, none stands for the proposition that ‘whenever [a
municipality’s] investigation fails to lead ®reprimand or discharge of an employee,’
the municipality is deemed to have a polarycustom giving rise to § 1983 liability.”).

In this case, plaintiff alleges thattiCounty and the SBSO are liable because
Sheriff Brown, a policymaker, “approved’dtReview Board’s finding that Calderon did
not use excessive force because Brown fdibeguestion the Review Board’s findings,
even though the investigation was allegedlgviously flawed.” _See MSJ Opp’n at 22.
However, plaintiff has provided no evidenceaffirmative conduct oratification. MSJ
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at 17-18. Brown attended the presentatiiothe Review Board on Calderon’s use of
deadly force, but did not attend the Boardtliberations. Brown Decl. § 22. He
subsequently received a one-page mendum of the Review Board’s findings,

reviewed them, and took no further action. Idf @B8. Thus, in his FAC, plaintiff merely
highlights the policymaker’s failure to inué&gate a subordinate’s discretionary decisions
and failure to discipline the subordinate. See Praprotnik, 485 U.S. at 130; Sheehan, 743
F.3d at 1231. The Court therefore concluithes, as a matter of law, plaintiff cannot

prove ratification.

Accordingly, to the extent that phdiff bases his Monell liability claim on
ratification, the CourGRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

e. Customs of Excessive Forc€ailure to Provide Medical
Carein the Field, and Covering Up Misconduct

A local government entity may be sued constitutional deprivations caused by a
government “custom,” even wh the custom has not been formally approved through
official decision-making channels. Monel36 U.S. at 690. Hower, such a practice
must be so permanent and well settled ithatnstitutes a “custom or usage” with the
force of law. Id. at 691. “Liability for improper custom may not be predicated on
isolated or sporadic incidents; it mustfoended upon practices of sufficient duration,
frequency and consistency thhé conduct has become aditional method of carrying
out policy.” Trevino v. Gates99 F.3d 911, 918 (9th Cir. 199&ee also Meehan v. Los
Angeles Cnty., 856 F.2d 102 (9th Cir. 1988) (twoidents not sufficient to establish
custom);_Davis v. Ellensbagy 869 F.2d 1230 (9th Cir. 198@nanner of one arrest
insufficient to establish policy).

In his FAC, plaintiff appears to allegeneral customs of excessive force, failing
to provide medical care in the fieldyéicovering up misconduct with lies. FAC 1 87—
96. In their motion for summary judgmedgefendants contend that plaintiff “cannot
establish that his rights were violated in this single incident pursuant to unconstitutional
County policy, custom or practice.” MSJ at IBhe Court agreesPlaintiff fails to put
forth any evidence that would lead a reasbmgury to believe that the County has a
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custom of violating constitutional rightisistead, plaintiff onlypresents evidence
regarding the single incident in which his coigional rights were allegedly violated.
Accordingly, to the extent plaintiff basesionell claim on customs of excessive force,
failure to provide medical care in thelfl, and covering up misconduct, the Court
GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

f. Plaintiff’'s Remaining Seven Bases of Monell Liability

In their statement of uncontroverteatts (filed in support of their motion for
summary judgment), defendargeek summary judgment on the remaining bases of
Monell liability that plaintiff alleges agaihghe County and the SBSO: (1) inadequate
supervision; (2) enabling Cortsitional violations; (3) failure to discipline; (4) deficient
hiring and retention; (5) fddation a code of silence; (6) encouraging officers to believe
they can violate persons’ rights; and (7) feelto ensure that officers make truthful
reports. Reply SUF at Nog4—77, 79-80, 82In support of their contention, defendants
cite to paragraphs 6 and 7Bifown’s declaration._See id?aragraph 6, restates verbatim
plaintiff's ten bases for Monell liability. BrowDecl. 6. Paragraph 7 merely states:
“Plaintiff's allegations, whiclare listed in Paragraph 6@ve, are untrue. The SBSO
does not have any such policieastoms, or practices.” .ldt § 7. These conclusory
statements are insufficient to establish thate is no dispute of fact as to whether
plaintiff's remaining bases create Monkdlbility for the County and the SBSO.
Therefore, to the extent that defendamtskssummary judgment for the remaining seven
bases for Monell liability, the CouRENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

4, Section 1983 Individual Supervisory Liability Claimagainst
Calderonand Brown

Plaintiff alleges that Calderon and Broare individually liable as supervisors
pursuant to 8 1983. FAC {1 97-107. t&®ec1983 does not recognize respondeat
superior liability._See Pembaur, 475 U.S4@9. Nonetheless, a supervisor may be
liable in his individual capacity if (1) he she is personally involved in the constitutional
deprivation, or (2) there is a sufficiezdusal connection between the supervisor’s
wrongful conduct and the constitutional vitden. Starr v. Baca, 652 F.3d 1202, 1205
(9th Cir. 2011) (quotation mies and citation omitted); sedso Larez, 946 F.2d at 646
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(supervisory liability is imposed for a supervisdiown culpable actin or inaction in the
training, supervision, or control of hislsardinates,” for his “acquiesce[nce] in the
constitutional deprivations of which [thepmplaint is made, ” or for conduct that
showed a “reckless or calloilifference to the rights of others.” (citations omitted));
Johnson v. Duffy, 588 F.2d 740, 743—-44 (9th Cir. 1978) (“The requisite causal
connection can be established . . . by settingation a series of acts by others which the
actor kn?;/vs or reasonably should know woeddise others to inflict the constitutional
injury.”).

Plaintiff contends that Calderon is indiuvially liable as a supervisor pursuant to §
1983. FAC 11 97-106. To the extent plainsfalleging that Calderon is liable for use
of excessive force when Calderon shot plaintife Court finds that this claim fails as a
matter of law. Calderon was the only offieeno allegedly used excessive force.
Therefore, in alleging supervisory liabilitglaintiff effectively avers that Calderon was
both his own supervisor and his own subordinate during the incident. This assertion runs
counter to the purpose and function of indual supervisory liability, which aims to hold
a supervisor liabldespite the fact that he isot the actor whose actions violated
plaintiff's rights. Sed.arez, 946 F.2d at 645 (“A supergrswill rarely be directly and
personally involved in the same way astaeindividual officers who are on the scene
inflicting constitutional injury. Yet, this d@enot prevent a supervisor from being held
liable in his individual capaty.”). Allowing plaintiff to claim supervisory liability in
addition to individual liability againgLalderon would merely duplicate claims.
Accordingly, the CourGRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on
plaintiff's claim of superviery liability against Calderon.

Plaintiff also alleges that Brown is indlilually liable as a supervisor because he
failed to train, supervise, or disciplindiokrs who used excess force, even though
Brown knew that SBSO officers were respbfesfor a high number of excessive force
shootings compared to other counties m tnited States anddhthere were prior

1270 the extent plaintiff alleges supemiy liability because the officers allegedly
failed to provide medical care in the fietle Court has already determined that the
medical care claim fails as a ttex of law. _See supra Part IV.B.2. Thus, the Court will
only address supervisory liability for Catde’s alleged use of excessive force.
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complaints of excessive fog against Calderon, Johnsand Hampton. FAC 1 99-102.
Defendants argue that the SBSO'’s use of force policy is consistent with the Fourth
Amendment standard set out in Garner, thatSBSO'’s policy provides that all officer-
involved shootings are investigated “in a fand impartial mannérand that plaintiff
shows no evidence that Brown failed to enghed SBSO officers wengroperly trained.
MSJ at 19. Defendants contend that, eéfene, there is no evidence that Brown
“breached any duty to Plaintifihat was a proximate causeho$ injury.” Id. The Court
disagrees. The Court has alreadyermined that there is asgute of fact as to whether
the officers’ training was inadequate. Sapra Part IV.B.3.b. Awordingly, the Court
DENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgmem plaintiff's supervisory liability
claim against Brown.

5. State Law Claims
a. Battery

Plaintiff alleges that Calden committed battery wheme shot plaintiff. FAC
19 58-62. Under California law, a plaintifeking to establish a prima facie case of
battery by a police officer must show thatessonable force was used. Edson v. City of
Anaheim, 63 Cal. App. 4th 1269, 1272-73 (19%8)san v. City of Lake Forest, 94 Cal.
App. 4th 1401, 1412-13 (2002) (holding thatifdania courts evaluate battery by police
officer using excessive force standar@efendants argue that the battery claim fails as a
matter of law because Calderon’s uséoofe was reasonable. MSJ at 2fowever, the
Court has already concluded that theredsspute of fact regarding Calderon’s use of
deadly force and denied summary judgmenplamtiff's excessivdorce claim._See
supra Part IV.B.1. Therefore, the Court dH6NIES defendants’ motion for summary
judgment on plaintiff’'s battery claim.

b. BaneAct Violation

Plaintiff contends that by shooting plaintiff Calderon interfered with plaintiff's
“right to be free from excessiferce and to bodily integrityin violation of California
Civil Code § 52.1 (“Bane Act”)._See FAC 11 63—-69. The Bane Act provides a right to
relief when someone interferes, or attemptsterfere, “by threat, intimidation, or
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coercion, with the exercise or enjoymentany individual or individuals of rights

secured by the Constitution or laws of thatda States, or of the rights secured by the
Constitution or laws of [Califgria]. . . .” Cal. Civ. Cod& 52.1(a). Defendants argue

that plaintiff's Bane Act clainfails as a matter of law becauplaintiff “does not allege

any threats, intimidation or acts of coercidry’ Calderon that are separate from the act of
shooting plaintiff. MSJ at 20-21. The Court agrees.

In Lyall v. City of Los Angeles, 807 F.3d 1178 (9th Cir. 2015), the Ninth Circuit
held that a Bane Act violan requires allegations of threats, coercion, or intimidation
beyond the coercion inherent in the det@mir search on which plaintiff bases his
8 1983 claim._See id. at 119B6lowever, California district@urts have varied in their
interpretations of Lyall when addressing Bakct violations basedn excessive force.
Courts in the Eastern District of Califorrhave concluded that la{l’'s requirement of
additional coercion applies only Bane Act violations based amintentional conduct,
such as unlawfully detaining a plaintiff duedalerical error._See D.G. v. Cnty. of Kern,
2016 WL 6072362, at *2 (E.D. Cadct. 13, 2016); Morse ¥nty. of Merced, 2016 WL
4000406, at *2 (E.D. Cal. JuBb, 2016). Plaintiff need not show additional coercion
where the Bane Act claim is basedintentional conduct, such as using excessive force
by shooting a plaintiff._See D.G., 2016 WL 6072362, at *2; Morse, 2016 WL 4000406,
at *2. Courts in the Northern District @falifornia have found that “allegations of
excessive force are sufficieloy themselves to allege a violation of the Bane Act.”
Barragan v. City of Eurek&016 WL 4549130, at *8 (N.D. Cabept. 1, 2016); see also
Jones v. Cnty. of Contra Costa, 2016 WL 1569974, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 19, 2016);
Stubblefield v. City of Novato, 2016 WL 192534,*11 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 15, 2016). In
contrast, one court in the Central DistrictGdlifornia has held that Lyall's additional
coercion requirement does appdyBane Act claims based emcessive force. Han v.
City of Los Angeles, 2016 WL 2758241,* (C.D. Cal. May12, 2016) (granting
summary judgment for defendants because there was “no showing of coercion or
intimidation against Plaintiff exercising amstitutional right thafwals independent from
the coercion inherent in the alleged . . . esoee force.”); see also Venice Justice Comm.
v. City of Los Angeles, 2016 WL 47245%#,*8 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 9, 2016) (dismissing
plaintiff's contention that Lyall's holding iBmited to search and seizure cases).
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To date, neither the Ninth Circuit nitre California Supreme Court has resolved
the issue of whether a plaintiff assertinBane Act claim based on excessive force must
allege coercion or intimidatiomdependent of the excessivede claim. This Court is
persuaded by the reasoning of other courts in the Central District of California. Nothing
in Lyall expressly suggests that its holdiedimited to unlawful detention claims or
unintentional conduct. Here, plaintiff fails to provide evidence or allege facts showing
that he faced a threat, intimidation, oeccon independent fro@alderon’s alleged use
of excessive forceAccordingly, the CourGRANTS defendants’ motion for summary
judgment on plaintiff's Bane Act claim.

C. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

The elements of a claim for IIED an&) extreme and outrageous conduct by the
defendant with the intent to cause, or tesk disregard for the probability of causing,
emotional distress; (2) extreme emotional dsstriey the plaintiff; and (3) the plaintiff's
emotional distress is actually and proxinhatée result of defendant’s outrageous
conduct. _Hughes Rair, 209 P.3d 963, 976 (2009). tEeme and outrageous conduct is
conduct that is “so extreme tsexceed all bounds of thatusly tolerated in a civilized
community.” Id. The Court already determththat a reasonable jury could find that
Calderon used excessive forcgee supra Part IV.B.1. A reasonable jury could also find
that the excessive use ofde constitutes outrageous conduSee Blankenhorn v. City
of Orange, 485 F.3d 463, 487 n.17 (9th 2007) (reversing grant of summary judgment
on IIED claim because excessive use oféocould constitute outrageous conduct).
Accordingly, the CourDENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment on
plaintiff's IIED claim.

d. Negligence

Plaintiff alleges that all defendants were negligent bex#uey breached their duty
of reasonable care to comply with SBSOrtnag by: (1) facilitating excessive force; (2)
covering up excessive force/maintaining a code of silence; (3) failure to provide medical
care; (4) retaining officers despite their propensities for abusing authority; (5) inadequate
supervision, training, and discipline; (6) m@ining inadequate pcedures for reporting
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and reviewing misconduct; and (7) ratifyimjentional misconduct. See FAC {1 109—-
10.

Defendants argue that plaintiff's negligenclaim fails as a ntier of law for four
reasons. First, defendants contend that summary judgment is appropriate on plaintiff's
negligence claim against Calderon, Johnston, and Hanbkcause plaintiff cannot
prove gross negligence in failure to providedical care. MSJ &4. The Court has
already determined that plaintiff's medical eataim fails as a matter of law. See supra
Part IV.B.2. Therefore, to ¢hextent plaintiff bases his glegence claim on the officers’
failure to provide medical carin the field, the CoutsRANTS defendants’ motion for
summary judgment.

Second, defendants argue that plairgifiegligence claim agnst the County and
the SBSO fails as a matter of law, besmpublic entities are immune from liability
except as provided by statute. MSJ at Bader the Government @ins Act, there is no
common law tort liability for public entities i@alifornia; instead, such liability must be
based on statute. Cal. Gov't @08 815. While plaintiff does not specify this in his
FAC, theres a statute, California Governmebode § 815.2, which provides that a
public entity may be liable faacts or omissions of gatoyees committed within the
scope of their employment. Cal. Gov't Cagl815.2. Thus, to the extent plaintiff's
negligence claim against the County anel @88SO is based on respondeat superior
liability, the CourtDENIES defendants’ motion for summajudgment. _See Reinhardt
v. Santa Clara Cnty., 2006 WL 3147691, at *18,(N.D. Cal. Nov. 1, 2006) (denying
public entities’ motion to dismiss negligenclaim premised on respondeat superior
liability, pursuant to § 815.2). Hower, there is no statute imposidigect liability on
public entities for negligent training, hiring and supervision practices. See id.; Mood v.
City of Costa Mesa, 2015 WL 5898274, at(&D. Cal. Oct. 82015); Johnson v.
Shasta Cnty., 83 F. Supp. 3d 918, 936-37 (E&). 2015) (granting motion to dismiss
negligence claim against county defendantlteged negligence in “hiring, training,
supervision, or retention ofdividual police officers”). Theafore, plaintiff's claims of
direct liability on the part of the Counand the SBSO fail a& matter of law.
Accordingly, to the extent that plaintifflages direct liability for negligence against the
County and the SBSO, the CoO@RANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment.
See Reinhardt, 2006 WL 3147691, at *10 (“All allegations of direct liability on the part
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of the entity defendants, such the failuretfnn allegations, fail as a matter of law,
because plaintiff has cited no statute imposing such liability.”).

Third, defendants contend that plaintiffiesgligence claim against Brown fails as a
matter of law, because Brown was naegent during the shooting. MSJ at 24-25.
However, the Court already cdaded that there is a genuirssue of fact as to whether
Brown failed to adequately train, supervieediscipline officers who used excessive
force. See supra Part.B.4.b. Thereforethe Court also concludes that there is a
genuine issue of fact aswhether Brown was negligent abdENIES defendants’
motion for summary judgment.

Fourth, defendants argue that Califardlivil Code 8§ 3333.3 bars plaintiff's
negligence claim. MSJ at 24’he Court has peritted defendants to add this affirmative
defense._See also supra ParBlll.The Court grants plaintiten days to brief the issue
of § 3333.3._Id. Therefer the Court reserves rulitg the issue of whether § 3333.3
bars plaintiff's claim of nelggence against all defendantstibafter plaintiff responds to
the new affirmative defensgé.

Accordingly, the Court concludes thdgfendants’ motion for summary judgment
on plaintiff's negligence claim IGRANTED in part andDENIED in part.

V. CONCLUSION
Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, the Court:

(1) GRANTS defendants’ motion to modify treeheduling order and amend their
answer;

(2) DENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's excessive
force claim;

¥ The Court notes that at this junctidgnappears that § 3333.3 bars plaintiff's
negligence claim. Nonethelg the Court welcomes plaiffis argument to the contrary.
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(3) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's claim for
failure to provide medicatare in the field;

(4) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgnt with respect to plaintiff’'s
Monell liability claim against SherifBrown in his official capacity;

(5) DENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's Monell
claim to the extent plaintiff bases I®nell claim on an underlying violation of
plaintiff's rights;

(6) DENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's Monell
claim to the extent that plaintiff baskis_Monell claim on failure to train;

(7) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's Monell
claim to the extent that plaintifases his Monell claim on ratification;

(8) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff’s Monell
claim to the extent that plaintiff baskeis Monell claim on and customs of excessive
force, failure to providenedical care in the fiel&nd covering up misconduct;

(9) DENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's Monell
claim to the extent that plaintiff baskis Monell claim on inadequate supervision,
enabling constitutional violations, failure tcsdipline, deficient hing, facilitating a code
of silence, encouraging officers to believeytltan violate persons’ rights, and failure to
ensure that officers made truthful reports;

(10) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's
supervisory liability clan against Calderon;

(11) DENIES defendants’ motion for summanyggment on plaintiff's supervisory
liability claim against Brown;

(12) DENIES defendants’ motion for summajydgment on plaintiff's battery
claim;
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(13) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summamnydgment on plaintiff's Bane Act
claim;

(14) DENIES defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's IED
claim;

(15) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's
negligence claim to the exteplaintiff alleges negligence bad on the officers failure to
provide medical care in the field,

(16) DENIES defendants’ motion for summanydgment on plaintiff's negligence
claim to the extent plaintiff alleges negligce based on respondeat superior liability
against the County and the SBSO;

(17) GRANTS defendants’ motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's
negligence claim to the exteplaintiff alleges negligence based on direct liability against
the County and the SBSO;

(18) DENIES defendants’ motion for summanyggment on plaintiff's negligence
claim to the extent plaintiff alleges ndegence based on Sheriff Brown’s training,
supervisory, and disdipary practices; and

(19)RESERVES RULING on the issue of whether § 3333.3 bars plaintiff's claim
of negligence against all defendants, untilrgfiaintiff briefs the issue of § 3333.3.
Plaintiff shall file his supplemental opposition withien (10) daysof the date of this
order. Defendants shall not file a replyto plaintiff's supplemental opposition.

ITI1S SO ORDERED.
00 : 00
Initials of Preparer CMJ
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